Allen&Gledhill

08/10/2014

PROPOSAL ON COMMITMENTS TO THE COMPETITION COMMISSION OF SINGAPORE ON THE PROPOSED DIVESTMENT OF WWW.JOBS.COM.SG

ALLEN & GLEDHILL LLP
ONE MARINA BOULEVARD #28-00
SINGAPORE 018989

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents		Page
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Definitions	1
3.	Commitment to divest	4
4.	Preservation of viability, marketability and competitiveness	5
5.	Hold separate commitments	5
6.	Ring-fencing	5
7.	Due diligence	6
8.	Reports on potential purchasers	6
9.	Qualifying Criteria	6
10.	Terms of sale	6
11.	Variation of the Divestiture Commitments	7
12.	Independent Auditor	7
13.	Divestiture Trustee	8
14.	Governing Law	8
Schedule 1		9
Schedule 2		10
Schedule 3		15

Proposal on Commitments to the Competition Commission of Singapore on the Proposed Divestment of www.jobs.com.sg

1. Introduction

- 1.1 Pursuant to paragraph 6.8 of the CCS Guidelines on Merger Procedures 2012, SEEK hereby proposes the following additional Divestiture Commitments, to the proposed Behavioural Commitments market tested by the CCS on 21 August 2014, in order to enable the CCS to make a decision, pursuant to Section 60A of the Act that the Acquisition, if carried into effect, will not infringe Section 54 of the Act. Capitalised terms used in this proposal shall, unless otherwise defined, have the same meaning ascribed to them in the proposed commitments submitted to the CCS on 20 August 2014 and which were market tested on 21 August 2014 (the "20 August 2014 Commitments Proposal").
- **1.2** SEEK proposes these additional Divestiture Commitments to the CCS with the same objective of assuring the CCS that the Acquisition would not, after having been carried into effect, result in a substantial lessening of competition in Singapore.
- 1.3 SEEK will use all reasonable endeavours to ensure the satisfaction of the proposed Divestiture Commitments set out below provided that doing so shall not require SEEK to take any action which exceeds the objective set out in paragraph 1.2 or which would be likely to have such a detrimental effect on the current or future development of SEEK and its respective related entities. If SEEK considers that any action is likely to have such a detrimental effect on the current or future development of SEEK and its respective related entities, it shall make an application, supported by reasons, to the CCS as set out in paragraph 11.1 below.

2. Definitions

- 2.1 In this proposal, unless the subject or context otherwise requires, the following words, expressions and abbreviations have the following meanings ascribed to them:
 - 2.1.1 "Acquisition" means the proposed acquisition of the recruitment business assets of JobStreet by SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. in accordance with the terms set out in the SPA;
 - **2.1.2** "**Act**" means the Competition Act, Chapter 50B of Singapore;
 - 2.1.3 "Affiliated Undertakings" means undertakings controlled by SEEK under the notion of control pursuant to Section 54(3) of the Act;
 - **2.1.4** "Approved Audit Plan" shall have the meaning as ascribed to it in paragraph 3.1.1 of Schedule 2:
 - 2.1.5 "Assets" means the assets that are required to ensure the continued operation of the Divestment Business in the same manner as it operates as at the date of Completion or the Merger Decision (whichever is later), and which would include, inter alia:

- (i) all tangible and intangible assets (including intellectual property rights);
- (ii) all licences, permits and authorisations issued by any governmental organisation for the benefit of the Divestment Business, if any;
- (iii) all contracts, leases, commitments and customer orders of the Divestment Business, if any; and
- (iv) all customer, credit and other records of the Divestment Business, if any, as set out in paragraph 2 of Schedule 1;
- **2.1.6** "Audit Reports" means the Behavioural Audit Report and the Divestiture Audit Report;
- **2.1.7 "Behavioural Audit Report"** shall have the meaning as ascribed to it in paragraph 3.1.2.1 of Schedule 2;
- **2.1.8** "Behavioural Commitments" means the proposed commitments offered by SEEK to the CCS, and market tested by the CCS on 21 August 2014;
- **2.1.9** "CCS" means the Competition Commission of Singapore;
- **2.1.10** "Commitments" mean the Divestiture Commitments and the Behavioural Commitments:
- **2.1.11** "Commitment Period" means the period of 36 calendar months commencing from Completion or the date of the Merger Decision (whichever is later), or such shorter period as the CCS may specify;
- 2.1.12 "Competitively Sensitive Information" means the Sales and Marketing Related Information, business secrets, know-how, commercial information, or any other information of a confidential or proprietary nature not in the public domain;
- **2.1.13** "Completion" means the date of completion of the SPA;
- 2.1.14 "Divestment Business" means, as set out in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1, the job aggregation service for Singapore-based job opportunities in Singapore, provided on the domain http://www.jobs.com.sg;
- **2.1.15** "Divestiture Audit Report" shall have the meaning as ascribed to it in paragraph 3.1.2.2 of Schedule 2;
- **2.1.16** "Divestiture Commitments" means the commitments proposed by SEEK as set out in paragraphs 3 to 14 below;
- **2.1.17** "**Divestment Date**" means the date on which legal title to the Assets is transferred to the Purchaser;

- 2.1.18 "Divestiture Trustee" means one or more legal persons, independent from SEEK, approved by the CCS and appointed by SEEK and who have received from SEEK the exclusive mandate to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser in accordance with paragraph 3.2 of the Divestiture Commitments;
- **2.1.19** "First Divestiture Period" means the period of six (6) calendar months commencing from Completion or the date of the Merger Decision (whichever is later);
- 2.1.20 "Hold Separate Manager" means the person appointed by SEEK for the Divestment Business to manage the day-to-day business from Completion or the date of the Merger Decision (whichever is later) up until the Divestment Date, under the supervision of the Independent Auditor;
- 2.1.21 "Independent Auditor" means one or more natural or legal persons, independent from SEEK, approved by the CCS and appointed by SEEK and which has the duty to monitor SEEK's compliance with the conditions and obligations as set out in the Commitments:
- 2.1.22 "JobStreet" means JobStreet Corporation Berhad;
- 2.1.23 "JobStreet Target Companies" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the SPA;
- 2.1.24 "Job Seeker Technology" means technology used to crawl websites with job opportunities, receive information on job opportunities via XML feeds, and make such job opportunities searchable on the website located at http://www.jobs.com.sg;
- 2.1.25 "Merger Decision" means a favourable decision by the CCS that the Acquisition will not, if carried into effect, infringe Section 54 of the Act based on the Commitments provided by SEEK and accepted by the CCS;
- 2.1.26 "Purchaser" means the undertaking approved by the CCS as the acquirer of the Divestment Business for the purpose of the Divestiture Commitments, in accordance with the Qualifying Criteria;
- **2.1.27** "Qualifying Criteria" shall have the meaning as ascribed to it in paragraph 9.1 of the Divestiture Commitments;
- 2.1.28 "Sales and Marketing Related Information" means sales and marketing business secrets, of a confidential or proprietary nature, which are not in the public domain.
- 2.1.29 "SEEK" means SEEK Limited and SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd;
- 2.1.30 "Singapore Online Recruitment Advertising Services" means the placement of recruitment advertisements by recruiters and employers in Singapore for job opportunities located in Singapore and other products and services targeted towards the Singapore recruitment market;

- 2.1.31 "SPA" means the agreement for the sale and purchase of the specified share capital of the JobStreet Target Companies between JobStreet, SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. and SEEK entered into on 19 February 2014;
- 2.1.32 "Trustee Divestiture Period" means the period of six (6) calendar months commencing from the end of the First Divestiture Period; and
- 2.1.33 "XML" means extensible markup language.
- **2.2** Unless the context otherwise requires or permits:
 - 2.2.1 words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively; and
 - 2.2.2 references to any gender includes each other gender and the neutral gender.
- **2.3** References to SEEK Limited and SEEK Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. include their respective successors and permitted assigns.

3. Commitment to divest

- 3.1 SEEK proposes to commit to divest, or procure the divestiture of the Divestment Business, by the end of the Trustee Divestiture Period as a going concern to the Purchaser and on terms of sale approved by the CCS in accordance with the procedure described in paragraph 10 of the Divestiture Commitments.
- 3.2 For the purpose of this Divestiture Commitments, SEEK proposes to commit to find a purchaser and to enter into a sale and purchase agreement for the sale of the Divestment Business within the First Divestiture Period. If SEEK has not entered into such an agreement at the end of the First Divestiture Period, SEEK shall grant the Divestiture Trustee an exclusive mandate to sell the Divestment Business in accordance with the procedure described in Schedule 3 of the Divestiture Commitments within the Trustee Divestiture Period.
- **3.3** For the avoidance of doubt, SEEK shall be deemed to have complied with the commitments set out in paragraph 3.2 if:
 - 3.3.1 SEEK or the Divestiture Trustee has entered into a sale and purchase agreement and the CCS approves the Purchaser and the terms of sale as being consistent with the Divestiture Commitments in accordance with the procedure described in paragraph 10 below; and
 - 3.3.2 the legal title of the Assets are transferred within a period of three (3) calendar months from the CCS' approval of the Purchaser and the terms of sale.
- 3.4 For the purpose of maintaining the structural effect of the Divestiture Commitments, SEEK shall, for a period of ten (10) years after the Divestment Date, not acquire, whether directly or indirectly, the ability to exercise decisive influence over the whole or part of the activities of the Divestment Business unless, following the submission of a reasoned request from

SEEK showing good cause and accompanied by a report from the Independent Auditor, the CCS finds that the structure of the market has changed to such an extent that the absence of influence over the Divestment Business is no longer necessary to render the Acquisition compatible with Section 54 of the Act.

4. Preservation of viability, marketability and competitiveness

- 4.1 SEEK shall preserve the Divestment Business, in the same manner as it is currently operating, (as at the date of Completion or the Merger Decision, whichever is later) in accordance with current business practice, and shall minimise as far as possible any risk of loss of competitive potential of the Divestment Business prior to the Divestment Date. In particular, SEEK proposes to undertake:
 - 4.1.1 not to carry out any act upon its own authority that might reasonably be expected to have a significant adverse impact on the existing value, management, competitiveness of the Divestment Business or that might alter the nature and scope of activity, or the industrial or commercial strategy or the investment policy of the Divestment Business; and
 - 4.1.2 to make available, or procure to make available, sufficient resources for the development of the Divestment Business, on the basis and continuation of the existing business plans of the Divestment Business.

5. Hold separate commitments

- 5.1 SEEK proposes to undertake, from Completion or the date of the Merger Decision (whichever is later) to the Divestment Date, to keep the Divestment Business as a distinct and saleable business from the businesses retained by SEEK.
- 5.2 Immediately after Completion or the adoption of the Merger Decision (whichever is later), SEEK shall appoint a Hold Separate Manager to manage the Divestment Business independently and in the same manner as it is currently operating (as at the date of Completion or the Merger Decision, whichever is later), in accordance with its current business practice, and to minimise as far as possible any risk of loss of competitive potential of the Divestment Business prior to the Divestment Date.
- 5.3 The Hold Separate Manager shall closely cooperate with and report to the Independent Auditor and, if applicable, the Divestiture Trustee.

6. Ring-fencing

6.1 SEEK proposes to implement, or procure to implement, all necessary measures to ensure that SEEK does not, after the Divestment Date, obtain any Competitively Sensitive Information relating to the Divestment Business and that any such Competitively Sensitive Information obtained by SEEK before the Divestment Date will be eliminated and not be used by SEEK. In particular, the participation of the Divestment Business in any central information technology network shall be severed to the extent possible, without compromising the viability of the Divestment Business. SEEK may obtain or keep

information relating to the Divestment Business which is reasonably necessary for the divestiture of the Divestment Business or the disclosure of which is required by law.

7. Due diligence

7.1 For the purpose of enabling potential purchasers to carry out reasonable due diligence of the Divestment Business, SEEK shall, subject to confidentiality assurances and dependent on the stage of the divestiture process, provide to potential purchasers sufficient information with regard to the Divestment Business.

8. Reports on potential purchasers

8.1 SEEK shall submit written reports on potential purchasers of the Divestment Business and developments in the negotiations with such potential purchasers to the CCS and the Independent Auditor no later than ten (10) working days after the end of every calendar month after the appointment of the Independent Auditor, up until the end of the First Divestiture Period.

9. Qualifying Criteria

- **9.1** In order to be approved by the CCS, the Purchaser must fulfil the following Qualifying Criteria:
 - **9.1.1** the Purchaser shall be independent of, and unconnected to, SEEK and its Affiliated Undertakings;
 - 9.1.2 the Purchaser shall have the financial resources, proven expertise and incentive to operate the Divestment Business as a viable and active competitive force in competition with SEEK and other competitors in Singapore, and no less than the manner in which the Divestment Business is currently operating as at the date of Completion or the Merger Decision (whichever is later); and
 - 9.1.3 the acquisition by the Purchaser of the Divestment Business is neither likely to create, in light of the information available to the CCS, *prima facie* competition concerns under Section 54 of the Act nor give rise to a risk that the implementation of the Divestiture Commitments will be delayed.

10. Terms of sale

- 10.1 The sale and purchase agreement (as well as ancillary agreements) relating to the sale of the Divestment Business shall be conditional on the approval of the CCS, whose approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- **10.2** During the First Divestiture Period:
 - 10.2.1 when SEEK has reached an agreement with a potential purchaser, SEEK shall submit a fully documented and reasoned proposal, including a copy of the

- finalised sale and purchase agreement, within seven (7) working days to the CCS and the Independent Auditor; and
- 10.2.2 SEEK must be able to demonstrate to the CCS that the potential purchaser fulfils the Qualifying Criteria and that the Divestment Business is being sold in a manner consistent with the Divestiture Commitments. For the approval, the CCS shall verify that the potential purchaser fulfils the Qualifying Criteria and that the Divestment Business is being sold in a manner consistent with the Merger Decision and the Divestiture Commitments.
- **10.3** During the Trustee Divestiture Period, the functions of the Divestiture Trustee are as set out in Schedule 3.
- 10.4 The CCS may approve the sale of the Divestment Business without one or more Assets, or by substituting one or more Assets with one or more different assets, in response to an application by SEEK, supported by reasons, if this does not affect the viability and competitiveness of the Divestment Business after the sale, taking account of the potential purchaser.

11. Variation of the Divestiture Commitments

- 11.1 The CCS may extend the time periods foreseen in the Divestiture Commitments in response to a request from SEEK or, in appropriate cases, on its own initiative. Where SEEK requests an extension of a time period, it shall submit a reasoned request no later than one (1) calendar month before the expiry of that period, showing good cause to the CCS, whose approval of such request shall not be unreasonably withheld. Only in exceptional circumstances shall SEEK be entitled to request an extension within the last calendar month of any period.
- 11.2 The CCS may, at any time up until the Divestment Date, in accordance with paragraphs 6.14 to 6.16 of the CCS Guidelines on Merger Procedures 2012 and Section 60A(5) of the Act, vary, substitute or release SEEK from one or more of the Divestiture Commitments under Section 60A(3) or Section 60A(4) of the Act, pursuant to an application by SEEK to the CCS supported by reasons, including but not limited to:
 - 11.2.1 any material change in market and competitive conditions; or
 - 11.2.2 circumstances where compliance with any of the proposed Divestiture Commitments exceeds, or is no longer required to achieve, the objective set out in paragraph 1.2 or has such a detrimental effect on the current or future development of SEEK.

12. Independent Auditor

12.1 SEEK proposes to appoint an Independent Auditor on the terms and conditions approved by the CCS, and as set out in Schedule 2.

12.2 SEEK shall procure that, following its appointment, the Independent Auditor shall monitor the compliance of SEEK with the Divestiture Commitments set out in paragraphs 3 to 10 above, in addition to the Behavioural Commitments, in accordance with the terms of its appointment.

13. Divestiture Trustee

- 13.1 If SEEK has not entered into a sale and purchase agreement to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser within one (1) calendar month prior to the end of the First Divestiture Period, or if the CCS has rejected a purchaser proposed by SEEK at that time, SEEK shall appoint a Divestiture Trustee on the terms and conditions as set out in Schedule 3 for the purpose of selling the Divestment Business to a Purchaser within the Trustee Divestiture Period under the Divestiture Commitments.
- 13.2 SEEK shall provide the Divestiture Trustee with all such cooperation, assistance and information as the Divestiture Trustee may reasonably require to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser pursuant to the Divestiture Commitments. Specifically, SEEK will ensure that the Divestiture Trustee shall, to the extent practicable, have full and complete access to any of SEEK's books, documents, and information reasonably necessary for the Divestiture Trustee to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser pursuant to the Divestiture Commitments.
- 13.3 The Divestiture Trustee may be the same legal or natural persons as the Independent Auditor. If the Independent Auditor and the Divestiture Trustee are not the same legal or natural persons, the Independent Auditor and the Divestiture Trustee shall cooperate closely with each other during and for the purpose of the preparation of the Trustee Divestiture Period in order to facilitate each other's tasks.

14. Governing Law

14.1 The terms and conditions of these Commitments shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of Singapore.

Schedule 1

The Divestment Business

 The Divestment Business, as operated of 1 October 2014, has the following legal and functional structure: Owned and Operated by Job Seeker Pty Ltd (ACN 126 894 479) of Level 6, 541 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, Victoria 3004, Australia.

2. The Assets includes:

- a. the domain name http://www.jobs.com.sg and the website operated from that domain by Job Seeker Pty Ltd; and
- rights, title and interest to use the Job Seeker Technology for the sole purpose of providing Singapore Online Recruitment Advertising Services on the domain http://www.jobs.com.sg.

3. For the avoidance of doubt:

- the Assets shall not include any rights, title or interest to use the Job Seeker Technology for any products or services other than Singapore Online Recruitment Advertising Services; and
- d. SEEK shall retain ownership of, and all rights, title and interest to use, the Job Seeker Technology for any products and services other than Singapore Online Recruitment Advertising Services.

Schedule 2

Terms and conditions of the appointment of the Independent Auditor

- 1. Appointment and Maintenance of Independent Auditor
- 1.1. The Independent Auditor appointed by SEEK in accordance with the term and conditions below shall monitor the compliance by SEEK with the Commitments and carry out the functions specified in this Schedule.
- 1.2. The Independent Auditor shall:
 - 1.2.1. be independent of SEEK;
 - 1.2.2. possess the necessary qualifications to carry out its mandate as an Independent Auditor;
 - 1.2.3. neither have nor become exposed to a conflict of interest; and
- 1.3. Without limitation, an Independent Auditor is not independent if he or she:
 - 1.3.1. is a current employee or officer of SEEK;
 - 1.3.2. is a person who has been an employee or officer of SEEK in the past three (3) vears;
 - 1.3.3. is a person who, in the opinion of CCS, holds a material interest in SEEK; or
 - 1.3.4. has or has had any other relationship with SEEK which, in the opinion of CCS, is likely to affect the ability of that person to act independently.
- 1.4. The Independent Auditor shall be remunerated by SEEK in a way that does not impede the independent and effective fulfilment of its mandate.
- 1.5. No later than fourteen (14) calendar days following the date of the Merger Decision, SEEK shall submit the name or names of one or more natural or legal persons whom SEEK proposes to appoint as the Independent Auditor, together with the Form 1 set out in this Schedule 2 to the CCS for its approval.
- 1.6. CCS shall have the discretion to approve or reject the proposed Independent Auditor, to approve the terms and conditions of appointment of the Independent Auditor and to approve the draft audit plan provided by the Independent Auditor or subject to any modification it deems necessary for the Independent Auditor to effectively fulfil its obligations:
 - 1.6.1. if only one name is approved, SEEK shall appoint or cause to be appointed, the individual or institution concerned as Independent Auditor, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS; and

- 1.6.2. if more than one name is approved, SEEK shall be free to choose the Independent Auditor to be appointed from among the names approved.
- 1.7. The Independent Auditor shall be appointed within seven (7) calendar days of CCS' approval, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS.
- 1.8. If the proposed Independent Auditors are rejected by CCS, CCS shall nominate an Independent Auditor, whom SEEK shall appoint, or cause to be appointed, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS. The Independent Auditor shall assume its specified duties in order to ensure compliance by SEEK with the Commitments.
- 1.9. CCS may, on its own initiative or at the request of the Independent Auditor or SEEK, give any orders or instructions to the Independent Auditor in order to ensure compliance of SEEK with the Commitments.

2. Terms of Appointment

- 2.1. SEEK must procure that the terms and conditions of appointment include obligations on the Independent Auditor to continue to satisfy the independence criteria in paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of this Schedule 2.
- 2.2. SEEK shall provide the Independent Auditor with all such cooperation, assistance and information as the Independent Auditor may reasonably require to monitor compliance with the Commitments. Specifically, SEEK will ensure that the Independent Auditor shall, to the extent practicable, have full and complete access to any of SEEK's books, documents, and information reasonably necessary for the Independent Auditor to verify compliance by SEEK with the Commitments.
- 2.3. If the Independent Auditor ceases to perform its functions under this paragraph or for any other good cause, including the exposure of the Independent Auditor to a conflict of interest.
 - 2.3.1. CCS may, after hearing the Independent Auditor and SEEK, require SEEK to replace the Independent Auditor; or
 - 2.3.2. SEEK, with the prior approval of CCS, may replace the Independent Auditor if the Independent Auditor ceases to perform its functions under this paragraph or for any other good cause, including the exposure of the Independent Auditor to a conflict of interest.
- 2.4. If the Independent Auditor is removed according to paragraph 2.3 of this Schedule 2, the Independent Auditor may be required to continue in its function until a new Independent Auditor is in place to whom the Independent Auditor has effected a full hand over of all relevant information. The new Independent Auditor shall be appointed in accordance with the procedure referred to in paragraphs 1.5 to 1.8 of this Schedule 2, commencing from the date on which the Independent Auditor is removed.

- 2.5. Unless removed according to paragraph 2.3 of this Schedule 2, the Independent Auditor shall cease to act as Independent Auditor:
 - 2.5.1. for the purpose of the Divestiture Commitments, only after the CCS has discharged it from its duties, or the sale of the Divestment Business, whichever is earlier; and
 - 2.5.2. for the purpose of the Behavioural Commitments, only after the CCS has discharged it from its duties, or at the end of the Commitment Period, whichever is earlier.

3. Audit Reports

- 3.1. The Independent Auditor shall, following its appointment:
 - 3.1.1. monitor the compliance of SEEK with the Commitments according to the audit plan provided by the Independent Auditor and approved by the CCS (the "Approved Audit Plan"); and
 - 3.1.2. provide to CCS, with a simultaneous non-confidential copy to SEEK:
 - 3.1.2.1. an audit report within fifteen (15) working days at the end of every six (6) calendar month cycle (the "Behavioural Audit Report"), to the end of the Commitment Period, concerning the compliance by SEEK with the Behavioural Commitments; and
 - 3.1.2.2. an audit report within fifteen (15) working days at the end of every calendar month cycle (the "Divestiture Audit Report"), up until the Divestment Date, concerning the compliance with SEEK with the Divestiture Commitments,

(collectively, the "Audit Reports"); and

- 3.1.3. in addition to the Audit Reports, the Independent Auditor shall promptly report in writing to CCS, with a simultaneous non-confidential copy to SEEK, if the Independent Auditor concludes on reasonable grounds that SEEK is failing to comply with any of the conditions or obligations under the Commitments.
- 3.2. The Audit Reports shall include:
 - 3.2.1. the Independent Auditor's procedures in conducting the audit, or any change to audit procedures since the previous Behavioural Audit Report or Divestiture Audit Report, as the case may be;
 - 3.2.2. an audit of SEEK's compliance with the Commitments in accordance with the Approved Audit Plan;
 - 3.2.3. all the reasons for the conclusions reached in the Audit Reports;

- 3.2.4. any recommendations by the Independent Auditor to improve the Approved Audit Plan, the integrity of the auditing process and SEEK's compliance with the Commitments;
- 3.2.5. implementation and outcome of any prior recommendations by the Independent Auditor; and
- 3.2.6. statement declaring continued compliance with the independence of the Independent Auditor from SEEK.
- 3.3. SEEK shall implement any recommendations of the Independent Auditor made in the Audit Reports on SEEK's compliance with the Commitments, and notify CCS of the implementation of the recommendations, within fourteen (14) calendar days, or such longer period as the Independent Auditor considers reasonable and practicable in the circumstances, after receiving the Audit Reports.

FORM 1

INFORMATION REQUIRED

SEEK must provide the following information to CCS in order for it to assess the proposed Independent Auditor.

- 1. Proposed Independent Auditor Details
- 1.1. Name of the proposed Independent Auditor; and
- 1.2. Name of the proposed Independent Auditor's employer and contact details including the address
- 2. Details of the proposed Independent Auditor's qualifications and experience relevant to his or her proposed role
- 3. Names of the owner(s) and the directors of the proposed Independent Auditor's employer
- 4. Details of any of the following types of relationships between SEEK and the proposed Independent Auditor or the proposed Independent Auditor's employer or confirmation that no such relationship exists
- 4.1. Whether SEEK and the proposed Independent Auditor's employer are Related Corporations within the meaning of Section 6 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore;
- 4.2. Whether any undertaking that is deemed to be a Related Corporation with respect to SEEK is also a Related Corporation with respect to the proposed Independent Auditor's employer;
- 4.3. Whether SEEK and the proposed Independent Auditor or the proposed Independent Auditor's employer have a contractual relationship or had one within the past three (3) years; and
- 4.4. Whether there is any other relationship between SEEK and the proposed Independent Auditor and the proposed Independent Auditor's employer that allows one to affect the business decisions of the other.
- 5. In addition to the proposed terms and conditions of appointment for the proposed Independent Auditor, SEEK must procure that the proposed Independent Auditor provides:
- 5.1. the draft audit plan; and
- 5.2. an outline of the proposed Independent Auditor's plans in regard to the Audit Reports.

Schedule 3

Terms and conditions of the appointment of the Divestiture Trustee

- 1. Appointment and Maintenance of Divestiture Trustee
- 1.1. SEEK shall appoint a Divestiture Trustee, in accordance with paragraphs 3.2 and 13 of the Divestiture Commitments, to carry out the functions specified in this Schedule 3.
- 1.2. The Divestiture Trustee shall:
 - 1.2.1. be independent of SEEK;
 - 1.2.2. possess the necessary qualifications to carry out its mandate as a Divestiture Trustee; and
 - 1.2.3. neither have nor become exposed to a conflict of interest.
- 1.3. Without limitation, a Divestiture Trustee is not independent if he or she:
 - 1.3.1. is a current employee or officer of SEEK;
 - 1.3.2. is a person who has been an employee or officer of SEEK in the past three (3) years;
 - 1.3.3. is a person who, in the opinion of CCS, holds a material interest in SEEK; or
 - 1.3.4. has or has had any other relationship with SEEK which, in the opinion of CCS, is likely to affect the ability of that person to act independently.
- 1.4. The Divestiture Trustee shall be remunerated by SEEK in a way that does not impede the independent and effective fulfilment of its mandate.
- 1.5. No later than one (1) calendar month before the end of the First Divestiture Period or on request by the CCS, SEEK shall submit the name or names of one or more natural or legal persons whom SEEK proposes to appoint as the Divestiture Trustee, together with the Form 1 set out in this Schedule 3 to the CCS for its approval.
- 1.6. CCS shall have the discretion to approve or reject the proposed Divestiture Trustee, and to approve the terms and conditions of appointment of the Divestiture Trustee or subject to any modification it deems necessary for the Divestiture Trustee to effectively fulfil its obligations:
 - 1.6.1. if only one name is approved, SEEK shall appoint or cause to be appointed, the individual or institution concerned as Divestiture Trustee, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS; and
 - 1.6.2. if more than one name is approved, SEEK shall be free to choose the Divestiture Trustee to be appointed from among the names approved.

- 1.7. The Divestiture Trustee shall be appointed within seven (7) calendar days of CCS' approval, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS.
- 1.8. If the proposed Divestiture Trustees are rejected by CCS, CCS shall nominate a Divestiture Trustee, whom SEEK shall appoint, or cause to be appointed, in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment approved by CCS. The Divestiture Trustee shall assume its specified duties in order to ensure compliance by SEEK with the Divestiture Commitments.
- 1.9. CCS may, on its own initiative or at the request of the Divestiture Trustee or SEEK, give any orders or instructions to the Divestiture Trustee in order to ensure compliance of SEEK with the Divestiture Commitments.

2. Terms of Appointment

- 2.1. SEEK must procure that the terms and conditions of appointment include obligations on the Divestiture Trustee to continue to satisfy the independence criteria in paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of this Schedule 3.
- 2.2. Within the Trustee Divestiture Period, the Divestiture Trustee shall sell at no minimum price the Divestment Business to a Purchaser, provided that the CCS (whose approval shall not be unreasonably withheld) has approved of both the Purchaser and the sale and purchase agreement (as well as ancillary agreements) relating to the divestment of the Divestment Business as in line with the Merger Decision and the Divestiture Commitments.
- 2.3. The Divestiture Trustee must be able to demonstrate to the CCS that the potential purchaser fulfils the Qualifying Criteria and that the Divestment Business is being sold in a manner consistent with the Divestiture Commitments. For the approval, the CCS shall verify that the potential purchaser fulfils the Qualifying Criteria and that the Divestment Business is being sold in a manner consistent with the Merger Decision and the Divestiture Commitments.
- 2.4. The Divestiture Trustee shall include in the sale and purchase agreement (as well as in any ancillary agreements) such terms and conditions as it considers appropriate for an expedient sale in the Trustee Divestiture Period. The Divestiture Trustee shall protect the legitimate financial interest of SEEK, subject to SEEK's unconditional obligation to divest at no minimum price in the Trustee Divestiture Period.
- 2.5. The Divestiture Trustee shall, in the Trustee Divestiture Period, provide the CCS with monthly reports on the progress of the divestiture process. Such reports shall be submitted within ten (10) working days after the end of every calendar month with a simultaneous copy to the Independent Auditor and a non-confidential copy to SEEK.
- 2.6. When the Divestiture Trustee has reached an agreement with a potential purchaser, the Divestiture Trustee shall submit a fully documented and reasoned proposal, including a copy of the finalised sale and purchase agreement, within seven (7) working days to the CCS and the Independent Auditor.

- 2.7. SEEK shall provide the Divestiture Trustee with all such cooperation, assistance and information as the Divestiture Trustee may reasonably require to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser pursuant to the Divestiture Commitments. Specifically, SEEK will ensure that the Divestiture Trustee shall, to the extent practicable, have full and complete access to any of SEEK's books, documents, and information reasonably necessary for the Divestiture Trustee to sell the Divestment Business to a Purchaser pursuant to the Divestiture Commitments.
- 2.8. If the Divestiture Trustee ceases to perform its functions under this paragraph or for any other good cause, including the exposure of the Divestiture Trustee to a conflict of interest,
 - 2.8.1. CCS may, after hearing the Divestiture Trustee and SEEK, require SEEK to replace the Divestiture Trustee; or
 - 2.8.2. SEEK, with the prior approval of CCS, may replace the Divestiture Trustee.
- 2.9. If the Divestiture Trustee is removed according to paragraph 2.3 of this Schedule 3, the Divestiture Trustee may be required to continue in its function until a new Divestiture Trustee is in place to whom the Divestiture Trustee has effected a full hand over of all relevant information. The new Divestiture Trustee shall be appointed in accordance with the procedure referred to in paragraphs 1.5 to 1.8 of this Schedule 3, commencing from the date on which the Divestiture Trustee is removed.
- 2.10. Unless removed according to paragraph 2.3 of this Schedule 3, the Divestiture Trustee shall cease to act as Divestiture Trustee only after the CCS has discharged it from its duties or after the sale of the Divestment Business pursuant to the Divestiture Commitments (whichever is earlier).

FORM 1

INFORMATION REQUIRED

SEEK must provide the following information to CCS in order for it to assess the proposed Divestiture Trustee.

- 1. Proposed Divestiture Trustee Details
- 1.1. Name of the proposed Divestiture Trustee; and
- 1.2. Name of the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer and contact details including the address
- 2. Details of the proposed Divestiture Trustee's qualifications and experience relevant to his or her proposed role
- 3. Names of the owner(s) and the directors of the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer
- 4. Details of any of the following types of relationships between SEEK and the proposed Divestiture Trustee or the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer or confirmation that no such relationship exists
- 4.1. Whether SEEK and the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer are Related Corporations within the meaning of Section 6 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore;
- 4.2. Whether any undertaking that is deemed to be a Related Corporation with respect to SEEK is also a Related Corporation with respect to the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer;
- 4.3. Whether SEEK and the proposed Divestiture Trustee or the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer have a contractual relationship or had one within the past three (3) years; and
- 4.4. Whether there is any other relationship between SEEK and the proposed Divestiture Trustee and the proposed Divestiture Trustee's employer that allows one to affect the business decisions of the other.